Red Series Tobacco Prevention and Tobacco Control





Improvement of youth and consumer protection by revision of the EU Tobacco Product Directive 2001/37/EC

Volume 16 German Cancer Research Center, Heidelberg Red Series Tobacco Prevention and Tobacco Control Volume 16: Improvement of youth and consumer protection by revision of the EUTobacco Product Directive 2001/37/EC

© 2010, German Cancer Research Center, Heidelberg

Suggested citation: German Cancer Research Center (Ed.): Improvement of youth and consumer protection by revision of the EUTobacco Product Directive 2001/37/EC, Heidelberg, 2010

Title-page: German Cancer Research Center, Unit Cancer Prevention, 2010

Layout: Sarah Kahnert, German Cancer Research Center, Heidelberg

Responsible for the content: German Cancer Research Center Unit Cancer Prevention and WHO Collaborating Centre for Tobacco Control

Head: Dr. Martina Pötschke-Langer

Im Neuenheimer Feld 280 D-69120 Heidelberg

Phone: +49 (0) 62 21 42 30 07 Fax: +49 (0) 62 21 42-30 20 Email: who-cc@dkfz.de Internet: www.tabakkontrolle.de

Red Series Tobacco Prevention and Tobacco Control Volume 16

Improvement of youth and consumer protection by revision of the EU Tobacco Product Directive 2001/37/EC

Authors

Dr. Katrin Schaller Dipl. Biol. Sarah Kahnert Nick K. Schneider Dr. Urmila Nair Dr. Martina Pötschke-Langer

In cooperation with

Prof. Dr. Dr. Heinz Walter Thielmann Member of the Senate Commission for the Investigation of Health Hazards of Chemical Compounds in the Work Area

German Cancer Research Center, Heidelberg

Contents

Preface		
1	Europe must take action	6
2	The EU Directive 2001/37/EC:	
	Contents and opportunities for improvement	9
	2.1 Provisions of Directive 2001/37/EC (Article 3-8)	9
	2.2 Effects of Directive 2001/37/EC on trade issues	12
	2.3 Implementation and reporting	12
	2.4 Revision of Directive 2001/37/EC	12
3	Standardized tobacco product packages	
	with pictorial health warnings	15
	3.1 Legal aspects of introducing standardized packages	15
	3.2 The package – a means of advertising for the tobacco industry	16
	3.3 The design makes the difference	
	3.4 The standardized package: A means of tobacco prevention	20
	3.5 Health warnings are effective	21
	3.6 Strong support in the European Union	
	3.7 Recommendation	22
4	Additives	23
	4.1 Legal regulations on additives in tobacco products	24
	4.2 Arguments against the use of additives in tobacco products	25
	4.2.1 Increase in cancer risk	25
	4.2.2 Enhancement of addictiveness	27
	4.2.3 Increasing attractiveness of tobacco products	
	4.2.4 Masking the smell and visibility of tobacco smoke	
	4.3 Recommendations	
5	Smokeless tobacco products	
	5.1 Health risks	
	5.2 There is no reason to introduce smokeless tobacco	
	products on the European market	
	5.3 Smokeless tobacco products are not effective	
	for smoking cessation	34
	5.4 Recommendation	35
Re	eferences	
Li	st of authors	

Preface

Every government that assumes office and takes over the responsibility of public health has the duty to create an environment, which encourages smoking cessation among smokers and prevents smoking initiation, especially by young people. To create such an environment, legal regulations have to be established. Every year, more than 650 000 people die as a result of smoking in the European Union.

The German Cancer Research Center has already highlighted the need for legal regulation of tobacco products in several publications, a position it shares with internationally renowned institutions such as the World Health Organization in Geneva and the Harvard School of Public Health in Boston. Also, the European Parliament assessed the current legal situation in Europe as inadequate and requested a revision of the Tobacco Products Directive (Directive 2001/37/EC).

The majority of smokers currently start smoking at around 15 years of age. This early entry into tobacco use has fatal consequences: The tobacco addiction begins already during adolescence. Tobacco associated health effects and the premature invalidity affect people during their active working life. Smokers usually loose on average about 10 years of their life, in some cases even more than 20 years, when they suffer fatal complications.

The consumption of tobacco products also causes significant economic costs not only for individuals but also for society in general. An unemployed person, who smokes 20 cigarettes a day, spends about a quarter of his monthly wage replacement benefits on smoking. The estimated economic burden of smoking exceeds one percent of the European gross domestic product. The great human suffering and high costs are borne by society in general and not by the manufacturers responsible for it. Therefore, effective measures are urgently required to reduce the attractiveness of tobacco products and the risks associated due to their use.

The tobacco industry is deliberately targeting women and youth as new tobacco consumers. The packaging is designed as an advertising vehicle to appeal to young people and encourage them to smoke. Many additives and flavourings are used to soften the harsh tobacco taste, improve the smoking experience and increase its attractiveness, especially for young people. Smokeless tobacco products have the potential to become new starting products for youth. In particular, such products which were already on the market in Sweden, Norway and the United States, are increasingly being consumed by young people.

The German Cancer Research Center therefore calls for a revision of the European Tobacco Products Directive, to ensure that all Member States introduce a standardized tobacco product package which is unattractive for the consumer, ban additives that cause cancer or are suspected to cause cancer as well as all other substances that contribute to the attractiveness of such a dangerous product by further increasing and facilitating consumption by young consumers. In addition, the EU must safeguard that no new, harmful and addictive products are introduced in EU Member States.

Prof. Dr. Otmar D. Wiestler Chairman and Scientific Director German Cancer Research Center Heidelberg, October 2010

1 Europe must take action

The German Cancer Research Center strongly recommends that new mandatory regulations in the revision of the European Directive 2001/37/EC should be set for all member states to ensure improved protection of the health of young people and consumers from the hazards of tobacco smoke. With reference to the revision of the Directive as asked by the European Parliament and the European Commission the three key measures that should be considered to promote the health of the population are detailed in this report. Where appropriate, we illustrated the actual implementation on member state level using Germany as example.

Key points

Tobacco product packaging

- The design of the tobacco product package is substantial to the advertising effectiveness of the tobacco product. As tobacco industry increasingly designs tobacco products to target young people, this advertising opportunity has to be prohibited to ensure youth protection.
- Standardized tobacco product packaging is a cost-effective component in tobacco prevention.
- There are no legal barriers to the adoption of standardized packaging.
- Large health warnings combining pictures and text on the front and back of the tobacco product packages are another cost-effective element in tobacco prevention and should be introduced in all member states of the European Union.

Tobacco additives

- Tobacco additives transform tobacco smoke into an even more complex chemical mixture and thereby further increase the carcinogenic and harmful effects of tobacco smoke.
- Additives are used to increase the free nicotine making tobacco products more dangerous, because the nicotine is absorbed more effectively and the potential for dependence increases.

- Additives that are used to facilitate smoking contribute to increased addictiveness.
- Additives that are used as flavouring agents can increase the attractiveness of tobacco products while concealing their harmful effects.
- Certain additives in tobacco products reduce the visibility and the unpleasant odour of tobacco smoke, so that it escapes notice despite its health hazards.
- To protect consumers it is obligatory to prohibit additives in tobacco products.

Smokeless tobacco products

- Smokeless tobacco products are addictive and cause diseases, which are sometimes lethal. There is no reason to introduce a new, hazardous product on the European market.
- Flavoured smokeless tobacco products facilitate the entry into tobacco dependence, primarily for youths.
- Smokeless tobacco products are promoted as an alternative to smoking applied to situations where smoking is prohibited. This circumvents measures of tobacco prevention.
- Particularly harmful is the dual use of smokeless tobacco products and cigarettes. Thereby, smokeless tobacco products increase the total tobacco consumption.
- Smokeless tobacco products are not suitable for cessation. A reduction in the total tobacco consumption succeeds mainly through effective tobacco control measures.

Recommendations for the revision of the European Directive 2001/37/EC to protect youth and consumers:

- Implementation of standardized tobacco product packaging with large health warnings combining pictures and text to ensure that fewer young people start smoking and smokers are motivated to stop smoking;
- prohibition of harmful and addiction enhancing additives, as they make tobacco products more dangerous than they already are;
- continued prohibition of smokeless tobacco products like the Swedish snus, since these are harmful tobacco products.

2 The EU Directive 2001/37/EC: Contents and opportunities for improvement

In the European Union (EU), tobacco products are regulated by the Directive "on the approximation of the laws, regulations and administrative provisions of the Member States concerning the manufacture, presentation and sale of tobacco products" (2001/37/EC)⁴⁴. In Germany, the EU Directive is implemented by the "Tobacco Product Act" (Tabakproduktverordnung, TabProdV)⁵⁰, which came into force on 5 December 2002. The Directive 2001/37/EC has two objectives:

- To facilitate the functioning of the internal market by removing trade barriers related to differences in Members State's laws and other provisions on tobacco products.
- To ensure a high level of health protection through uniform regulations having regard to new developments based on scientific facts.

With the introduction of the Directive the previous Directives 89/622/EEC and 92/41/EEC (labelling of tobacco products) as well as 90/239/EEC (maximum tar yield of cigarettes) were repealed and replaced.

The Directive covers, among others, the presentation of health warnings on tobacco product packaging, the prohibition of misleading descriptions such as "mild" or "light", the maximum yields of some emissions of cigarettes (tar, nicotine and carbon monoxide), and the prohibition of some tobacco products for oral use.

2.1 Provisions of Directive 2001/37/EC (Article 3-8)

Article 3: Maximum tar, nicotine and carbon monoxide yields in cigarettes

The Directive regulates the levels of certain emission products of cigarettes released for free circulation, marketed or manufactured in the EU Member States. Since 1 January 2004 the following emissions shall not be greater than:

- Tar: 10 mg per cigarette
- Nicotine: 1.0 mg per cigarette
- Carbon monoxide 10 mg per cigarette

Since 1 January 2007 these values also apply to cigarettes manufactured within the European Community, but exported to third countries.

Article 4: Measurement methods

Accredited laboratories designated by the Member States carry out and verify the compliance with the maximum yields on the basis of internationally approved standards. The results of these tests are presented to the appropriate national authorities on an annual basis and forwarded to the European Commission. Additionally the Member States are required to inform consumers about these results, while taking the protection of potential trade secrets into account.

While the measurements in most countries are performed by governmental or independent laboratories, at least seven of the eleven accredited laboratories in Germany are owned by the tobacco industry²³. The currently used machine testing methods according to the standards of the International Organization for Standardization (ISO) are being criticized by international experts, as they do not reflect the true smoking habits and the actual intake of harmful substances by the smoker. The Directive contains the possibility of adapting the methods to scientific and technical progress via the Tobacco Products Regulatory Committee. As the EU plans to keep the applied procedures in accordance with international standards, the guidelines for tobacco product regulation (Art. 9 and 10) of the WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control (FCTC), which shall be adopted end of 2010, could provide relevant guidance for a potential revision.

Article 5: Labelling

Information on maximum yields

The data on the maximum yields for cigarettes (tar, nicotine and carbon monoxide) must be printed on the side of the cigarette pack and take at least 10 percent of the outer surface of one side of the cigarette packet. In multilingual EU Member States, the percentage increased to 12 percent in case of two official languages and to 15 percent in case of three official languages. The Directive also specifies where this information is to be placed on the cigarette packet.

Within Member States and the European Parliament the labelling of tar, nicotine and carbon monoxide yields on cigarettes packages has repeatedly been criticized as being misleading to consumers²².

Warnings

 All tobacco products, except those for oral use and other smokeless tobacco products, must have two mandatory warnings:

- A general warning ("Smoking kills/ Smoking can kill" or "Smoking seriously harms you and others around you"), which must cover at least 30 percent of the outer surface of the most visible broadside of the pack (32 percent and 35 percent for Member States with two or three official languages) and
- one of 14 additional health warnings with relevant health information, which has to cover at least 40 percent of the outer surface of the other broadside of the package (45 or 50 percent for Member States with two or three official languages).

The warnings must be surrounded by a three to four millimeters wide, black border, which increases the total area of the warnings to 43 percent on the front and to 53 percent on the back in countries with one national language¹⁷. The same applies to the maximum yields described above. The implementation is currently inconsistent, because 19 of 27 Member States subtract the border from the area of the warnings. Only Belgium, Estonia, Finland, Latvia, Portugal, Slovenia, Sweden and the United Kingdom are in full conformity with the Directive¹⁷.

Warnings on packages of tobacco products other than cigarettes:

For packages with a broadside of more than 75 cm² the warnings have to cover at least 22.5 cm² on each broadside (24 cm² or 26.25 cm² for Member States with two or three official languages).

Warnings on tobacco products for oral use, where their marketing is permitted, and other smokeless tobacco products:

For these two product types separate provisions are applied. The general warning "This tobacco product can damage your health and is addictive" must cover at least 30 percent of the outer surface of the corresponding broadside (not including a three to four millimeters wide border) of the pack and outer packaging (32 percent or 35 percent for Member States with two or three official languages).

Combined visual warnings:

The European Commission agreed on 5 September 2003 that Member States can decide whether to require health warnings in the form of photographs or other images on the packages of some or all tobacco products, and under which conditions to use them²¹. By decision of 26 May 2005 a library of combined health warnings has been provided to the Member States²¹. Since then, Belgium (2007), Romania (2008), the United Kingdom (2008) and Latvia (2010) have introduced combined health warnings. France and Malta have decided to introduce them in 2011. Additionally, the European Commission facilitated copyright agreements with several countries to allow them the use of the pictorial warning library (e.g. New Zealand, Norway, Switzerland and Turkey).

A number of Member States called for mandatory combined warnings on all tobacco packages to facilitate their introduction in all EU Member States and to ensure consistent regulation across the Internal Market. Additionally, there were strong voices in the Member States and the European Parliament for making information on cessation services mandatory (helplines and websites), as well as for increasing the size of the warnings and placing pictorials on both package sides²².

Identification and traceability:

All packaging units of tobacco products must have a batch number or similar identification, to assess place and time of manufacture.

Article 6: Further product information

Manufacturers and importers of tobacco products are required to annually submit a list of all ingredients, and quantities thereof, used in the manufacture of those tobacco products by brand name and type. The list has to be accompanied by an explanation of the reasons for the use by function and category of the ingredients. Member States shall publish this information and annually communicate all data and information received to the European Commission. In Germany this information is published as an electronic database of the Federal Ministry of Food, Agriculture and Consumer Protection⁵¹. However, the data in the database are very general and sometimes misleading (see chapter 4.1, page 24).

In addition, the tobacco industry has to provide the competent authorities with a list of all available toxicological data regarding the ingredients in burnt and unburned form, in particular to their effects on health and taking into account any addictive effects. This information is not published.

Article 7: Product descriptions

Since 30 September 2003 descriptions (names, terms, figurative or other signs), suggesting that a product is less harmful than others, are not allowed on tobacco packages. Descriptors such as "light" or "mild" are therefore not to be used in the context of tobacco products. The tobacco product manufacturers have reacted early on that provision, and renamed their products accordingly ("Silver", "Gold", etc.) or indicated the supposedly "light" or "mild" nature of the products by light colours and other design elements. Although "figurative or other signs" are covered by the Directive a violation is difficult to prove and such practice unlikely to be challenged in court.

Article 8: Tobacco for oral use

Member States prohibit the marketing of "tobacco for oral use". With the exception of products intended for smoking or chewing, all products for oral use, which partially or completely consist of tobacco, are banned in the European Union since 1992³⁰. An exceptional rule (Article 151 of the Act of Accession of Austria, Finland and Sweden), however provides, that in Sweden and Norway (as a member of the European Free Trade Association, EFTA) may continue to place smokeless tobacco products on the market, as long as they do not resemble a food product²⁰. Norway and Sweden have also committed to take all measures necessary to ensure that these tobacco products are not placed on the market in other Member States²⁰. Contrary to these commitments of the EU accession treaty, Sweden has increasingly called for a lift of the ban in recent years. In the second half of 2009, shortly before the Swedish Presidency started, the Swedish Trade Minister Ewa Bjoerling declared that the Swedish smokeless tobacco product "snus" would be a priority of her mandate³⁸. Both, Swedish Match and British American Tobacco, have backed this initiative in the media and tried to influence the public opinion, e.g. through advertisements in party newspapers⁷⁵. A repeal of the so-called snus ban - as intended by the tobacco industry - can only be achieved by political means. The European Court of Justice (ECJ) already dismissed two legal complaints of the tobacco industry in 2004 and confirmed the conformity of the snus ban with EU legislation^{40,41}.

2.2 Effects of Directive 2001/37/EC on trade issues

The overall economic impact is considered to be positive, as the harmonization and approximation of the rules relevant to the internal market leads to greater clarity and legal certainty for all market participants.

2.3 Implementation and reporting

The Directive provides transition periods or exceptions for the application of certain provisions. The European Commission oversees the implementation of the Directive and submits a biannual report on its application to the European Parliament, the Council and the Economic and Social Committee. Adaptations of the Directive to scientific and technical progress can be taken into account by the European Commission. The Commission will be assisted by a group of tobacco control experts, set up within its Advisory Committee on Cancer Prevention, particularly in connection with the preparation of the reports on the application of the Directive. The European Commission also commissioned an external impact assessment to consider further measures⁴⁵.

2.4 Revision of Directive 2001/37/EC

The European Parliament, several States, and various stakeholders expressed the need to revise the Directive 2001/37/EC:

Recommendations of the European Parliament (2007)

On 19 September 2007, the European Parliament called on the European Commission in its resolution on the Green Paper "Towards a Europe free from tobacco smoke: policy options at EU level" (adopted by the European Parliament on 24 October 2007), to present a proposal, by 2008 if possible, for an amendment of Directive 2001/37/EC, containing at least the following:

- "An immediate ban on all addictionenhancing additives,
- an immediate ban on all additives shown by existing toxicological data to be carcinogenic, mutagenic, or toxic to reproduction as such or upon pyrolysis (burning at a temperature of between 600 and 950 °C),
- the introduction of a detailed registration, evaluation and authorisation procedure for tobacco additives, and complete on-pack labelling of all tobacco additives,
- an automatic ban on all additives for which manufacturers and importers of tobacco products do not have complete data sets by the end of 2008 (including lists of all ingredients by brand name and type, along with their quantities and toxicological data),
- a requirement for manufacturers to make publicly available all existing toxicological data on the additives and ingredients in tobacco smoke, including pyrolysis products (public and in-house data),
- the development of a compendium of tobacco additives and substances in tobacco smoke and the provision of consumer information in this respect,
- introduction of a financing system that makes tobacco product manufacturers liable for all costs of developing and maintaining assessment and supervisory structures (e.g. independent laboratories, staff and scientific investigations),
- application of product liability in respect of manufacturers and introduction of manufacturer liability for the financing of all health costs arising from tobacco consumption"⁴³.

Recommendations of the European Commission (2007)

On 27 November 2007 the European Commission presented various concrete measures in its "Second Report on the Application of the Tobacco Products Directive"²²:

- To review the need to adapt the definition of ingredients and ensure consistency with the WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control (FCTC).
- To actively follow the scientific and technological developments, particularly with regard to the ISO standards of emission yield measurements to take them into account once there is a more common understanding and agreement on the methods.
- To examine the possible options with regard to an enlargement of the health warnings, the introduction of mandatory pictorial warnings on both sides of the package in accordance with the FCTC guidelines on packaging and labeling of tobacco products (Article 11 of FCTC), adopted in November 2008.
- To consider replacing the maximum limits of tar, nicotine and carbon monoxide on cigarette packets by specifying hotline numbers and/or information about other substances in tobacco products, for example information about the use of genetically modified organisms (GMOs).
- To consider introducing generic standardized packaging for all tobacco products in order to reduce their attractiveness.

With regard to the REACH regulation (1907/2006/EC), adopted in 2006, the Commission committed itself to the implementation of all activities listed in the Commission statement³². The report criticizes the inconsistency of reporting, announces possible fines by Member States for non-delivery of information by the industry, and suggests a possible extension of reporting requirements. The ban on all addictive and harmful additives, as requested by the European Parliament, should be studied "positively and thoroughly" and in lights of a possible revision an even more stringent approach is proposed: to not allow any additives in tobacco products unless manufacturers proved their safety. To improve the effectiveness of the Directive, the European Commission also calls for an extension of its regulatory powers to cover the development of criteria for approving laboratories and other measures to improve laboratory cooperation and mutual recognition. Additionally it proposed the adoption of validated and internationally accepted measurement methods for roll-your-own (RYO) tobacco and the revision of its taxation rules. The Commission also announced a study on the best ways forward to strengthen product liability of tobacco manufacturers and importers in the EU as well as their liability for financing the health costs arising from tobacco consumption²².

Revision of the Tobacco Product Directive (2010)

On 25 March 2010, the European Commission presented a "roadmap"²⁴ for a potential revision of the Tobacco Products Directive by December 2011 highlighting current problems in the harmonization of the internal market and the promotion of health protection:

Harmonization of the Internal Market

- Different rules for the labelling of tobacco products, in particular regarding the combined use of pictorial health warnings.
- Complex reporting on the ingredients of tobacco products and difficulties in data analysis without harmonized formats.
- Introduction of different positive or negative lists of ingredients on Member State level.

Promoting health protection

- Insufficient consumer information about the risks of tobacco consumption.
- Misleading effects of labeling tar, nicotine and carbon monoxide levels on cigarette packs.
- Lack of health warnings in local language and possible sale to minors of products distributed over the Internet.
- Lack of coverage of new nicotine and tobacco products, such as electronic cigarettes, nicotine containing drinks, tobacco chewing gum and toothpaste.

These issues shall be discussed in the context of various consultations and reflected in the possible revision of the Directive²⁴.

With regard to the responsibility towards the protection of health, the German Cancer Research Center considers the implementation of the following items as key priorities:

- Implementation of standardized tobacco product packaging with large combined health warnings consisting of text and pictures.
- Ban of harmful and addictionenhancing additives as well as of those additives from which harmful combustion products emerge.
- Continuation of the ban on smokeless tobacco products including snus.

3 Standardized tobacco product packages with pictorial health warnings

Directive 2001/37/EC of the European Parliament and the Council requires, amongst others, a general health warning and one out of 14 additional warnings for all tobacco packages released for free circulation, marketed or manufactured in the Member States⁴⁴. Since 2003 Member States are enabled to use additional pictorial health warnings²¹. Currently only 5 countries have introduced pictorial health warnings in Europe and three countries plan to introduce them in 2011. The different regulations concerning the labelling of tobacco product packages and particularly the different use of pictorial health warnings all over Europe cause an inconsistent health protection in the Member States and hinder the trade within the European Community.

Since 2003, according to Directive, misleading terms "suggesting that a particular tobacco product is less harmful than others shall not be used on the packaging of tobacco products"⁴⁴.

Regardless of these requirements the tobacco industry is still free to use the tobacco package as a marketing tool. For the revision of Directive 2001/37/EC with regard to the European regulations on the advertising and sponsorship of tobacco products (directive 2003/33/EC), in order to better protect the health of the population, the European Union is considering the introduction of standardized packaging with large pictorial health warnings for tobacco products. The aim of a standardized package is to deprive the tobacco industry of the possibility to use the pack as an instrument for advertising. Hence the standardized package would be an important tool for tobacco control with regard to the WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control (FCTC).

3.1 Legal aspects of introducing standardized packages

Standardized packages for tobacco products have been unanimously recommended by the Parties of the FCTC and they would comply with EU legislation and German legislation.

Guidelines of the FCTC recommend standardized tobacco packages

In their guidelines for the implementation of the FCTC the Parties recommend to consider the introduction of standardized packages to increase the noticeability and effectiveness of health warnings and to prevent the use of the pack as an advertising tool^{114,115}.

Standardized packages comply with European and German law

Europe: A ruling to introduce generic tobacco packaging would not infringe EU legislation [Art. 1 (2) of Regulation 207/2009 (formerly Reg. 40/94 EC) or Art. 28 EC Treaty (ECT)], particularly if it is introduced on a European level. If generic packaging is introduced universally throughout the entire European Union, pan-European trademark protection is safeguarded to the same extent throughout Europe. The fundamental right to ownership (Art. 259 ECT) and related rights to intellectual property are not infringed by a European packaging regulation. Exercising an ownership right may also be subject to restrictions, in so far as such restrictions do in fact comply with the Community objectives of common welfare and do not represent a disproportionate, intolerable intervention with regard to the objective pursued, which affects the fundamental content of the rights thus protected. Such rights can likewise be curtailed in the interest of public welfare and safeguarding health [cf. Art. 10 (2) ECHR]⁴².

Germany: A regulation for standardized packages will violate neither the rights for property (Article 14, German Basic Law) nor the right for freedom of opinion (Article 5, German Basic Law) nor the right for free professionalism (Article 12, par. 1, sentence 2, German Basic Law), because these rights are not absolute and may be constraint by justified interventions⁴² (Cf. Decision of the Federal Constitutional Court, 22 January 1997, BVerfGE 95, 173, health warnings for tobacco products).

There are no legal obstacles hindering the introduction of standardized packages for tobacco products.

3.2 The package – a means of advertising for the tobacco industry

The package as a lure

The package attracts the attention of a potential customer and makes the customer feel he should buy the product. This is the case for any sort of product, no matter whether the pack contains cookies, Pizza or cigarettes. The wrapping establishes a connection between the producer and the customer and it is an important means of advertisement¹¹¹. Besides being appealing, its brand name, logo, colours and configuration create a specific brand image which shape consumer expectations about the product in terms of quality and image³³. The package creates a difference between similar products¹¹¹. It has to be eye catching and attractive both when seen alone, as in use, as well as in close neighbourhood with similar products, as in large retail displays³³.

The brand image is most important

Cigarettes are exceptional products, because smokers carry them - unlike most other products - with them all day long and use them in presence of others several times a day. In doing so the package makes a statement about the smoker, thus making the brand image most important for the tobacco industry. It not only creates a difference between several brands, but it is the definite reason for new customers to opt for a certain brand. It creates such a tight connection between the smoker and his brand that switching between brands is a rare exception^{100,109,111}. The brand's identity depends mostly on the design of the pack^{33,111}.

The pack – last remaining means of advertisement

The more severe advertising bans are adopted, the more the pack becomes important for the tobacco industry. The product innovation group of Philip Morris recognized during a meeting in 1990: "As media restrictions increase, the brand pack should become a media vehicle. The 'book pack' objective is to transform the pack from a 'passive container' into an 'active means of communication', an object that projects an image and a lifestyle by itself"⁸⁸.

Addressing specific target groups

In the past decades unique packs appealing to specific target groups like youth and women have been developed again and again. Especially girls and women are being targeted; for them the tobacco industry uses packs with a feminine design. The latest in these series are those resembling perfume and lipstick packs (Fig. 1).



Figure 1: Cigarette packs designed for women. Source: German Cancer Research Center, Unit Cancer Prevention, 2010.

Publicity ploy special edition

Special editions are introduced for improve the brand image and to tie a limited time with the intention to the consumer to the brand more

intensely. Such eye-catching limited editions are especially appealing to young people. Sometimes they refer to actual events like the soccer world cup (Fig. 2).

The tobacco industry is targeting young people more intensely by pack design. This means of advertising has to be abolished in order to protect youth.



Figure 2: Special editions of Lucky Strike (2009 and 2010) and of West (soccer world cup 2010). Source: German Cancer Research Center, Unit Cancer Prevention, 2010.

3.3 The design makes the difference

All elements of a pack's design are important for its advertising effect:

Colour

The colour may influence the consumer's perception of taste. Usually red is used for intense and blue for less intense taste, green for menthol cigarettes and white, implying an aspect of clinically clean, is associated with low contents of tar. Gold connotes high quality and pastel colours are used for products with low nicotine contents or mild taste^{33,78,89,111}. Accordingly smokers rate cigarettes taken from red packs as strong and cigarettes from packs in blue or light colours as smooth⁷³. Even more, smokers believe that cigarettes in light coloured packs have a lower health risk⁶⁵ (Fig. 3).



tar: 7 mg carbon monoxide: 4 mg carbon monoxide: 7 mg

Figure 3: of cigarette packages. Source: German Cancer Research Center, Unit Cancer Prevention, 2010.

Recall effect transported

by font and graphic elements using Marlboro

Font and graphic elements

The recall effect and the brand image are built up by the font style and characteristic graphic elements. Even

carbon monoxide: 10 mg carbon monoxide: 7 mg

barely noticeable changes of the font, the placement or the orientation may influence the impact of the design (Fig. 4)³³.



Structure, material, and shape

The package's structure and material influence how the consumer perceives a product's quality. Embossing for example refines and suggests a

high quality. Different shapes of the pack (oval, octagonal, two parts, etc.) had been repeatedly invented to enhance the attention of the consumer^{33,62} (Fig. 5, next page).

Suggestive colours

Figure 4:

Figure 5:

Octagonal package (Switzerland) and packages with palpable structures (Germany). The discreet hatching of the Marlboro pack is embossed making it palpable.

Source: German Cancer Research Center, Unit Cancer Prevention, 2010.



Listing of machine-measured yields of tar, nicotine and carbon monoxide According to Directive 2001/37/EC the cigarette producers actually indicate information about the contents of tar, nicotine and carbon monoxide per cigarette on the narrow side of the package. These indications are misleading, because they do not reflect the real health risk, but low numbers may be suggesting a lower health risk⁸⁹. About half of the smokers in the European Community believe falsely that the level of tar or nicotine on the side of the pack would indicate that a brand is less or more harmful¹⁰⁷.

The design of the package is very important for the advertising effect of the pack. The introduction of a standardized package would deprive the tobacco industry of this means of advertising.

3.4 The standardized package: A means of tobacco prevention

A standardized package has a neutral design and doesn't allow any space for advertising. It has a consistent design using a standardized font, font size, font colour, and package colour. There will be no logos, individual letterings or other means of advertisement (Fig. 6). Advantages of standardized packages are:

Less attractive tobacco products

The less brand specific elements are left on a package, the less it is attractive for potential consumers^{54,56,96,112}. On the consistent grey or brownish standardized package the only remaining brand specific elements will be the brand name and the number of cigarettes in the pack, but using a unique font.

No misleading

There will be no suggestive colours, which could transport the misleading information that a certain product would be less harmful than another⁶⁵. For this reason white or light colours must not be used for the package.

- Information carrier for tobacco control The standardized package will carry large pictorial health warnings, making the package an important means of information in tobacco control. Health warnings are recommended to cover at least 75 percent of the pack's front and 100 percent of the back and should be composed of text and pictures⁹⁶. The less brand specific elements are left on the package, the more the health warnings are recognised and retained⁵⁴.
- The standardized package will support the fight against illicit trade of tobacco products

The standardized packages of tobacco products are to be equipped with secure and non-removable identification markings such as codes or stamps to enable effective global tracking and tracing. This tracking and tracing system has to give all information necessary to monitor and control the movement of tobacco products and their legal status^{25,26}. On a standardized package these markings are better visible, marking it easier to detect fraud. A standardized package may be subject to severe criteria (e.g. holograms, invisible ink) hampering illicit trade.

A standardized package would not only deprive the tobacco industry of an important means of advertising, but provides a cost-effective means of information for tobacco control.

3.5 Health warnings are effective

Many studies have proved that health warnings are effective and cost-effective:

- Health warnings are a very direct and cost-effective means of communication. Health warnings reach every smoker and inform him continuously, because every time the smoker sorts a cigarette out of his pack he realises the warning sign. A smoker consuming a pack containing 20 cigarettes a day is exposed to the health warning at least 7 000 times a year⁹⁶.
- Health warnings improve the smoker's knowledge about the health risks of smoking^{62,63,64,96,99}.



Figure 6: Prototype of a standardized package. Source: German Cancer Research Center, Unit Cancer Prevention, 2010, adapted from Smokefree Partnership 2010¹⁰¹.

- Health warnings prevent people from taking up smoking and help exsmokers staying smoke-free^{96,99}.
- Health warnings motivate smokers to become smoke-free^{63,99}.

Combined health warnings using text and large shocking pictures have been proved to be more effective than text warnings alone⁹⁶:

- A pictorial message in particular, if it is very emotional – is more easy to capture and to understand than a textual information and it is better retained in memory⁶².
- Pictorial health warnings are most effective for youth⁶², for migrant population and those with a low educational status.
- Health warnings placed on the front of the package are most effective^{62,99}.

Large pictorial and textual health warnings placed on the front and back of the package of tobacco products are a cost-effective means of tobacco control.

3.6 Strong support in the European Union

Three quarters of EU citizens are in favour of introducing pictorial health warnings on all packages of tobacco products. More than half of the smokers are also in favour of these health warnings¹⁰⁷.

Slightly over half of EU citizens are in favour of a standardized package. Clearly more non-smokers (62 percent) than smokers (34 percent) are in favour of standardized packages¹⁰⁷.

In Germany, 71 percent of the citizens are in favour of pictorial warnings and 52 percent are in favour of a standardized package¹⁰⁷ (Fig. 7).

3.7 Recommendation

For the revision of Directive 2001/37/EC the German Cancer Research Center urgently recommends to adopt mandatory standardized tobacco packages with large pictorial health warnings in all Member States of the European Union.



Figure 7: Support of pictorial health warnings and plain packages for tobacco products in the European Union and Germany. Source: TNS Opinion & Social, 2010¹⁰⁷. Illustration: German Cancer Research Center, Unit Cancer Prevention, 2010.

4 Additives

Smoked tobacco products are harmful because tobacco smoke contains numerous toxic and carcinogenic substances. Some of these substances are naturally present in tobacco, but many are added during processing of the tobacco, during manufacturing of tobacco products, or are formed during combustion of the product, for example when used by the consumer. The use of additives in tobacco products increases the number of harmful substances in tobacco smoke considerably, making an already toxic product even more dangerous (Fig. 8). Also, in smokeless tobacco products additives increase the health risk additionally.

Additives in tobacco are added mainly to influence the tobacco taste, but also for moisturizing and improving the burning characteristics. They What is an additive?

"Additive" means "any substance or any constituent except for tobacco leaf and other natural or unprocessed tobacco plant parts used in the manufacture or preparation of a tobacco product and still present in the finished product, even if in altered form, including paper, filter, inks and adhesives"⁵⁰.

also include any colouring agents, adhesives, bonding agents and thickeners, plasticizers, binders, etc. that are included in the filter, the filter envelope and the paper of cigarettes and in all other components of tobacco products. More than 600 different



Figure 8: Summary of adverse health effects of additives in tobacco products. Illustration: German Cancer Research Center, Unit Cancer Prevention, 2010. additives are known that are used by the manufacturers^{7,67}. These can account for about 10 percent⁷ up to 25 percent⁸⁵ of the total weight of a cigarette.

4.1 Legal regulations on additives in tobacco products

In the EU the statutory provisions for the use of additives in tobacco products are inadequate and confusing, every Member State having a legislation of its own. In particular, the German regulation is complicated and confusing:

- Established in 1977, the "Tobacco Act" (Tabakverordnung, TabV)⁴⁸ states that substances for a specified purpose may be used in tobacco products, as well as the maximum authorized for some of the substances. By TabV the use of additives was regulated for the first time in Europe. The list of approved substances includes all flavours of the "Flavour Act" (Aromenverordnung)⁴⁹ and several hundred other substances.
- The "Tobacco Product Act" (Tabakprodukt-Verordnung, TabProdV)50, which should meet the demands of the EU Directive 2001/37/EG44, binds in § 5 the manufacturers and importers of tobacco products to inform the authorized government agency about the concentration of all the additives used for production of each brand and product. Additionally, for cigarettes tar, nicotine and carbon monoxide in the smoke should also be reported. Furthermore, the reasons for the use of each additive, its function and product category have to be indicated. In addition, the toxicological data available to the manufacturer or importer regarding these additives, including the combustion products referring in particular to their effects on health and taking into account, inter alias, any addictive effects, have to be included. Information on the additives has to be communicated

to the public by any appropriate means, while trade secrets are taken into account. Information is presently given on the website of the Federal Ministry of Food, Agriculture and Consumer Protection in the form of a tobacco additive database⁵¹. However, only additive amounts that exceed one milligram per product unit and the overall category and function of each additive, organized by brand, are stated there. Healthrelevant information is withheld.

The EU Directive 2001/37/EC also aims at establishing a common list of approved additives for all European countries by the European Commission. This list is still missing.

The testing of tobacco products is insufficient and is performed by an inadequate procedure: Tobacco products are tested like food or like commodities by the food monitoring institutions of the German Federal States based on the statutory requirements arising from the TabV and TabProdV. However, the following important aspects that are different in smoked tobacco are not considered:

- Additives in smoking tobacco products are exposed during combustion to temperatures much higher than during food preparation, so that very different chemical changes take place.
- Unlike food, the substances in tobacco smoke are absorbed for the most part through the respiratory tract and not through the gastrointestinal tract.

Both the combustion of the additives in the very high temperatures of the glowing zone and the intake into the body by inhalation may cause toxic effects that do not occur regarding food. Therefore, additives which are safe in food are not necessarily safe in smoked tobacco.They are likely to be turned into harmful substances and should not be equated with food additives. The investigation of potential health hazards of individual additives and their combustion products, as well as their interactions, are not covered adequately by the existing statutory measures.

4.2 Arguments against the use of additives in tobacco products

The use of additives increases the already unhealthy potential of tobacco products in several respects (Fig. 8, page 23):

4.2.1 Increase in cancer risk

So far, 90 substances that are produced by the combustion of tobacco and tobacco additives are classified as carcinogenic or possibly carcinogenic⁵⁸. Some of the substances, which are added to tobacco products and can pass into tobacco smoke, are already carcinogenic, or suspected to be carcinogenic, by themselves. Examples include⁵⁷:

- Azo and chromium(VI) compounds (colours for cigarette paper and cover sheet, tobacco foil and binder of cigars),
- salts and oxides of cobalt (materials for printing on cigarette, mouthpiece and filter joining paper),
- glyoxal (glue, adhesive, thickener for tobacco foils) and
- **talc** (whitening agent).

Other additives are precursors of carcinogenic compounds formed during combustion (pyrolysis), or they are involved in cancer causation or accelerate cancer development. Carcinogenic substances, which are formed during pyrolysis of tobacco additives, include⁵⁷:

Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs):

This group of substances makes a significant contribution to the development of lung cancer in smokers. PAHs can be formed through incomplete combustion of virtually all organic substances⁹⁴ – cigarettes, cigars and

pipe tobacco also burn incompletely. Some PAHs are predominantly formed from tobacco additives such as cocoa butter, oils, resins, paraffins, waxes, fats, shellac, chocolates, and methyl oleate and methyl palmitate.

- Tobacco-specific and volatile *N*-nitrosamines:
 - Examples of tobacco-specific N-nitrosamines are: N-nitrosonornicotine (NNN) and 4-(methyl-nitrosamino)-1-(3-pyridyl)-1-butanone (NNK). These are N-nitrosamines that are formed partly already during tobacco fermentation and pass into the smoke, but they are also formed from tobacco alkaloids (nornicotine, nicotine, anatabine, anabasine) whenever nitrate or ammonium salts are added to the tobacco from which then nitrosating nitrogen oxides are arising.
 - Examples of volatile *N*-nitrosamines are: the highly carcinogenic compounds *N*-nitrosodimethylamine and *N*-nitrosopyrrolidine. They arise, *inter alia*, from added amino acids or flavourings.
- Carcinogenic aldehydes such as formaldehyde, acetaldehyde, acrolein and others:

These arise from the pyrolysis of tobacco additives such as sugars (Fig. 9, next page), polysaccharides, pectins, syrup, caramel, starch, molasses, honey, ethanol, rum and proteins as well as various tobacco humectants such as glycerol and propylene glycol. In addition to their carcinogenic effect, in particular formaldehyde, acrolein and crotonaldehyde also inhibit the self-clearance of the lungs after smoking.

 Volatile organic substances such as benzene, butadiene and vinyl chloride:

Benzene, a common combustion product, is formed by the combustion of many tobacco components. In particular, it isformed during pyrolysis



Figure 9: Examples of harmful substances resulting from the conversion of sugar, while smoking. Illustration: German Cancer Research Center, 2009⁵⁹, edited.

> of added flavours such as benzyl alcohol, benzaldehyde, anisaldehyde, vanillin, thymol and heliotropine. Benzene causes leukemia.

> Butadiene, another common combustion product, is significantly increased in tobacco smoke when the tobacco humectant 1,2-propanediol is added. The liver carcinogen vinyl chloride in tobacco smoke is correlated with the chloride content of tobacco. Since ammonium chloride is allowed as a tobacco additive, the amount of vinyl chloride in the smoke increases with the amount of the added chloride salt.

Phenol, hydroquinone, catechol and cresols:

These substances are formed from tobacco additives such as cocoa, licorice, starch, cellulose, sugar, guar gum, locust bean gum.

- Nitro compounds such as nitromethane, nitroethane,
 2-nitropropane and nitrobenzene:
 They are generated, among others, in the presence of added nitrate salts.
- Aromatic amines such as
 2-naphthylamine, o-toluidine and
 4-aminobiphenyl:

These substances are urinary bladder carcinogens. Added nitrates and

ammonium compounds contribute to their formation.

Styrene:

The carcinogenic styrene is preformed, particularly in the tobacco flavouring additives cinnamaldehyde, cinnamyl alcohol and methyl cinnamate, and is produced from these during pyrolysis.

Aliphatic epoxides:

The humectants 1,2-propanediol, ethylene glycol and others, mostly added to the tobacco in considerable amounts, form the carcinogenic substances ethylene oxide, propylene oxide and other epoxides during pyrolysis. Aliphatic epoxides that are common combustion products, may generally arise from tobacco additives.

Coumarins:

A commonly used tobacco additive mixture is licorice. This contains several coumarin derivatives, which are very similar to the banned cancercausing substance coumarin. It is quite likely that some of these hitherto unexamined coumarin derivatives are either carcinogenic themselves or may be converted into the carcinogenic coumarin during pyrolysis. Tobacco smoke contains coumarin. In addition, numerous other toxins and pollutants such as cyanide, carbon monoxide, quinoline, acetonitrile, mercury, and polonium-210 are present in tobacco smoke⁵⁷. It is also possible that the more than 4 800 substances that have been identified in tobacco smoke^{6,69} interact with each other. This allows them to influence their effects mutually.

The additives make tobacco smoke an even more complex chemical mixture, thereby enhancing its already considerable carcinogenic and harmful potential.

4.2.2 Enhancement of addictiveness

The addictive nature of nicotine can be improved by increasing its concentration in the product or by affecting its chemical and physical properties. Both actions lead to an increase in the availability of nicotine. Furthermore, all manipulations that make smoking easier in any regard contribute to an enhancement of addictiveness.

Increasing the availability of nicotine

The addictive nicotine is present in tobacco predominantly in protonated salt form. Only a fraction of nicotine is in its free alkaloid form which can enter the gas phase of tobacco smoke. Only the free form penetrates the cell membranes. By influencing the acid-base chemistry of tobacco, a more basic pH can be achieved, thus increasing the proportion of free nicotine^{67,113}. This fact was already known by the tobacco industry in the early 1960s¹⁰² and to increase the pH of the tobacco, the producers applied various methods, such as addition of ammonium compounds⁹², basic amino acids such as lysine, calcium carbonate, or by using a variety of tobacco with a naturally higher pH, such as burley tobacco, which is used mainly in American brands⁹¹.

However, whether the pH of tobacco smoke also influences the intake of nicotine in the lung is not clear so far¹¹³. However, pH is critical for the absorption of nicotine across the oral mucosa for example in smokeless tobacco products like chewing tobacco and snus^{15,46,93} (see chapter 5.1, page 32).

Pyrolysis of sugar additives results in the generation of acetaldehyde, a probable carcinogen (see page 25 and fig. 9). In addition, it seems to increase the addictive effect of nicotine^{8,104,105}.

Another example of increasing addictiveness is the use of levulinic acid which not only increases the nicotine content in smoke but also facilitates the binding of nicotine to receptors in the central nervous system^{76,92}.

The targeted increase in the proportion of free nicotine by the use of appropriate additives makes tobacco products more dangerous because, thereby, the nicotine is absorbed more effectively and exerts its addictive and harmful effects so that the addictive potential is increased.

Making smoking easier and a more pleasant experience

Some additives exert a pharmacological effect and may facilitate the intake of nicotine. For example glycyrrhizin, an active ingredient of licorice, theobromine, occurring in cocoa, and caffeine expand the bronchial tubes thus allowing more smoke to enter the lungs and causing a higher exposure to nicotine⁹². Glycyrrhizin also inhibits inflammation in the lung and makes inhalation of tobacco smoke easier. Levulinic acid also enables deeper inhaling by desensitization of the upper respiratory tract⁷⁶.

Similarly, menthol, added to almost all tobacco products (Fig. 10), has, amongst other things, an analgesic effect and allows a deeper inhalation and thus increases smoke intake⁵⁵. Because it also stimulates cold receptors, it causes a cooling and freshness sensation that makes smoking more pleasant⁸². Besides menthol, other substances are used which act locally as an anesthetic so that they mask the perception of harmful effects⁹².

In addition, active agents are used to cover or to suppress the symptoms of damage to health.These are for example antioxidants which trap harmful free radicals. Nevertheless, a health benefit in the use of tobacco products could not be demonstrated so far. The oxidation inhibitor ß-carotene seems to even increase the risk for lung cancer^{1,106}.

Additives are used to facilitate the process of smoking, which increases the intake of carcinogenic and toxic ingredients of tobacco smoke and nicotine. This can also contribute to the enhancement of addictiveness.



Figure 10: The effects of menthol during smoking. Illustration: German Cancer Research Center, 2009⁵⁹.

4.2.3 Increasing attractiveness of tobacco products

Menthol, sugar, cocoa, honey, and other flavours mask the harsh tobacco taste and make the tobacco smoke milder. Also humectants are used for this purpose, because dry tobacco has a very strong taste. This is to make smoking easier especially for beginners – mostly young people. Notably tobacco products with a seemingly harmless taste of fruit, beverages or food are most appealing to young people (Fig. 11).

Worldwide, in many countries, including EU countries, tobacco products with special flavours are sold increasingly. This is, because they are marketed



Figure 11: Examples of cigarettes and cigarillos with different flavours. Source: German Cancer Research Center, Unit Cancer Prevention, 2010.

with an appropriate design, attractive especially for children and young people, and leads them in an early dependence^{19,27,77,9,83}. Some countries, therefore, have responded with restrictions and prohibitions of such additives (see box, next page).

The use of additives or flavours is also aimed at giving a consistent taste to a tobacco product and to offset the seasonal variability of the raw tobacco, an important factor towards maintaining brand loyalty among consumers.

The use of additives as flavouring agents increases the appeal of tobacco products and veils their harmful potential.

4.2.4 Masking the smell and visibility of tobacco smoke

Flavours mask the unpleasant odour of tobacco smoke. In addition, additives are used which affect the appearance of the smoke to make it less visible. The masking of the smell and visibility of tobacco smoke serves the purpose that it is perceived as less annoying by non-smokers^{29,92}.

Certain additives in tobacco products are used to reduce the visibility and the unpleasant odour of tobacco smoke, so the smoke together with its health hazards is hardly perceived.

Legal bans on tobacco products with distinctive flavours in non-European countries

In response to the increasing sales of tobacco products with distinctive flavours that appeal especially to children and young people, some governments have responded with appropriate legal measures that restrict or even prohibit the use of flavours in tobacco products:

- In Canada, since April 2010, the use of characteristic flavourings in the production and, since July 2010, the sale of cigarettes, cigarillos and blunt wraps (These are used as cigarette paper for rolling cigarettes but in contrast consist of a foil of tobacco.) containing certain additives, are prohibited by the "Act to amend the Tobacco Act" (Bill C-32)⁷¹, which entered into force in October 2009. The new list of approved additives is the most comprehensive to date. Some additives, such as menthol, are still permitted.
- In the United States, the national legislation prohibits the use of specific flavours such as fruit, candy, coffee, cloves and spices in cigarettes, fine cut tobacco and certain cigarillos. A possible ban of the widely used menthol should be examined¹¹⁰.
- In Australia, some states have banned cigarettes with the taste of fruits and sweets.

Moreover, the guidelines for implementation of Article 13 of the WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control (FCTC), which deal with tobacco advertising bans, point out the importance of limiting the appeal of tobacco products. Paragraph 17 of the Guidelines for implementation of Article 13 states that the use of design features which make tobacco products appear more attractive and appealing to consumers, such as coloured cigarette paper and pleasant odours, should be restricted as far as possible¹¹⁴. For the implementation of the Articles 9 and 10, which deal with the use of additives in tobacco products, guidelines are currently being drafted by a working group and will be presented at the fourth session of the Conference of the Parties (COP-4) in November 2010.

4.3 Recommendations

To protect consumers, it is imperative to ban any additives in tobacco products

- which are carcinogenic by themselves or are suspected to cause cancer,
- from which carcinogenic compounds are formed during combustion,
- which are involved in cancer development in any other way,
- those which increase the addictiveness,
- those which make smoking easier, and
- all flavouring agents that increase the attractiveness of the product,

especially for young people, leading them into dependency.

All additives which are still used in tobacco products, should be subjected to an rigorous test in which their safety should be established by the manufacturer. This should be done by means of a multistep procedure, based on internationally accepted and validated test methods. Whenever toxicity information is available, this should be used first. All substances that fail in anyone of the test steps should not be approved⁶⁰.

5 Smokeless tobacco products

Smokeless tobacco products such as Swedish snus contain nicotine and harmful substances, are addictive and cause damage to health (Fig. 12).

The Member States of the European Union prohibit the placing on the market of tobacco for oral use⁴⁴. "Tobacco for oral use" means "all products for oral use, except those intended to be smoked or chewed, made wholly or partly of tobacco, in powder or in particulate form or in any combination of those forms, particularly those presented in sachet portions or porous sachets, or in a form resembling a food product." The rationale behind the ban is as follows³⁰:

- New smokeless tobacco products are particularly attractive to young people.
- There is a real risk that the new products for oral use will be used above all by young people, thus leading to nicotine addiction.

- Smokeless tobacco contains particularly large quantities of carcinogenic substances.
- The only appropriate measure to ensure a high level of health is a total ban.

In 1995, Sweden was granted derogation from the ban when it joined the European Union due to a long tradition of snus, a special Swedish smokeless tobacco product. Snus therefore was not a new product in Sweden at the time of accession. But the Act of Accession Sweden engages Sweden to ensure that snus is not marketed in other Member States (Article 151 paragraph 1 of the Act concerning the conditions of accession of the Republic of Austria, Finland and Sweden and the adjustments of the European Union justifying Treaties, OJ 1994 C 241, p. 2120 and OJ 1995 L 1, p. 131).



Figure 12: Overview of the adverse effects of smokeless tobacco. Illustration: German Cancer Research Center, Unit Cancer Prevention, 2010. Swedish Snus consists of finely ground tobacco, mixed with flavours, salt, water as well as humidifying and chemical buffering agents. It is available loose and portion packed both in different flavour varieties (Fig. 13). It is placed between the lip and gum.

When the Swedish manufacturer Swedish Match wanted to introduce snus on the German market, the European Court of Justice confirmed in 2004 the existing ban of the sale of snus in the EU, pointing out that these products contain nicotine which leads to dependence and whose toxicity is beyond question. In those circumstances, the legislature was entitled to consider that a prohibition of those products, which were new on the market, was necessary and that, in particular, there was no alternative measure which allowed its objective to be achieved as effectively³⁹. Since the European Union is committed to take measures to prevent the onset of tobacco consumption, to promote and support tobacco cessation and to reduce the consumption of tobacco products,

the ratification of the WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control offers an additional international framework for the European Union to maintain the ban of snus in the EU.

5.1 Health risks

Smokeless tobacco products contain nicotine and are addictive

Smokeless tobacco products contain, depending on the type, different amounts of nicotine⁶⁶. Smokeless tobacco products are harmful, cause dependence⁵ and deliver similar amounts of nicotine during consumption as cigarettes^{10,70}. In contrast to smokers, users of smokeless tobacco usually have a steady concentration of nicotinie in the blood⁷². During the course of a day they absorb on average a similar amount or even higher quantities of nicotine than cigarette smokers¹⁰.

Nicotine is addictive¹¹ and users of smokeless tobacco are just as dependent as smokers⁹. Young people who consume smokeless tobacco products experience similar, if not greater nicotine dependence and withdrawal symptoms compared to cigarette smokers⁹⁰. For the consumer cessation is difficult³⁴.



Figure 13: Swedish Match snus products.

Source: Swedish Match¹⁰³. Illustration: German Cancer Research Center, Unit Cancer Prevention, 2010.

Smokeless tobacco products contain carcinogens and toxic substances

Around 28 carcinogens have been identified in smokeless tobacco products⁷². The major and most abundant carcinogens are highly carcinogenic tobacco-specific *N*-nitrosamines, which are present in different concentrations depending on the type of product⁷². In addition, there are volatile *N*-nitrosamines, formaldehyde, benzo[*a*]pyrene, heavy metals, polonium-210, uranium-235 and -238, and other carcinogens^{66,72}.

Nicotine is a poison and a neurotoxin⁵³. The symptoms of poisoning by nicotine include nausea, vomiting, weakness, unresponsiveness and impaired respiration and ultimately may lead to respiratory arrest resulting in death. Nicotine doses of 0.8 to 1.0 mg/kg body weight are considered to be lethal⁶¹.

Infants are susceptible to accidental tobacco ingestion²⁸. In children, as little as one milligram of nicotine can produce symptoms of poisoning⁶¹.

Smokeless tobacco products cause serious diseases that may be lethal

The cancer-causing substances in smokeless tobacco products may, with certain variations depending on the product, cause pancreatic cancer^{2,12,13,81}, oral cancer⁹⁵ and oesophageal cancer¹³.

Smokeless tobacco products cause serious damage of the oral health⁵ including periodontosis, dental caries, tooth loss^{35,68,74} and gingival recession^{4,16}. Although some changes disappear upon snus cessation, gingival recession is not reversible³⁴.

Smokeless tobacco products cause premature birth and preeclampsia (pregnancyrelated high blood pressure)^{36,37}.

Some scientific evidence suggests that consumption of smokeless tobacco may be associated with cardiovascular disease^{5,14}, diabetes and the metabolic syndrome⁸⁶ (Fig. 14).

Smokeless tobacco products are addictive and cause severe diseases, some of them being lethal.



Figure 14: Health damage caused by the consumption of smokeless tobacco. Source: Ashley 2008⁵. Illustration: German Cancer Research Center, Unit Cancer Prevention, 2010.

5.2 There is no reason to introduce smokeless tobacco products on the European market

WHO and the Scientific Committee on Emerging and Newly Identified Health Risks of the European Union consistently categorized smokeless tobacco products as harmful and classified them as addictive⁹⁷⁹⁸.

Smokeless tobacco products do not provide any health benefit for the European population. However, in the long term they would increase the total tobacco consumption.

Smokeless tobacco products are attractive to young people

In the United States and Sweden, consumption of smokeless tobacco products increased significantly in recent years, particularly among young men^{3,87}. The dual use of smokeless tobacco and cigarettes is common among young males^{87,108}. The manufacturers introduce more and more products, many of which are suitable as initiation products for young people due to their low nicotine content and intense flavours^{3,5,84}.

On the long term smokeless tobacco products will increase the total tobacco consumption

Manufacturers promote their products as a substitute for smoking in situations where smoking is not allowed⁵. This may result in additional smokeless tobacco consumption by smokers. Thus, more tobacco is consumed and political efforts to reduce tobacco use are undermined^{18,84}.

There is no reason to introduce a harmful product such as snus or any other smokeless tobacco products on the European market, even though manufacturers have a financial interest in opening up a new market.

5.3 Smokeless tobacco products are not effective for smoking cessation

Currently, there is no scientific evidence that smokeless tobacco products could be helpful in smoking cessation^{5,9798}.

To recommend smokeless tobacco products as an aid in smoking cessation may promote a false perception of safety. A lower health risk is achieved by reducing smoking and not by substituting another form of tobacco use⁹⁷.

Experience from Sweden shows that smokeless tobacco products are sometimes used to switch from smoking to smokeless tobacco products, but not for tobacco cessation: In Sweden, the proportion of smokers decreased significantly in the population, and the proportion of snus users increased significantly. But most smokers (66 percent) succeed cessation without snus⁸⁰. Approximately one in four former smokers switches to snus⁸⁷. The decline in the proportion of smokers is primarily due to the sharp rise in proportion of never smokers thanks to strong tobacco control measures (Fig. 15).

The number of smokers declines even in countries without smokeless tobacco products

Thanks to increasingly implemented tobacco control measures in recent years in many countries where the sale of smokeless tobacco products is prohibited, smoking prevalence decreased. In the UK, the Netherlands, Italy and Finland, in the period of 2006 to 2009, the proportion of smokers declined by five percent¹⁰⁷. In Germany, the proportion of smokers also decreased over the last ten years, since stronger tobacco control measures have been implemented. Among young smokers, the proportion was significantly reduced from 28 percent in 2001 to 15 percent in 2008 (Fig. 16).







Figure 16: Cigarette consumption of the population and the proportion of young smokers (15 – 17 years) in Germany.

Sources: Federal Statistical Office 2009⁵², Federal Centre for Health Education 2008⁴⁷. Illustration: German Cancer Research Center, Unit Cancer Prevention, 2009⁵⁹.

Smokeless tobacco products increase the overall tobacco consumption. A reduction in the total tobacco consumption succeeds mainly through effective tobacco control measures.

5.4 Recommendation

For the revision of Directive 2001/37/EC the German Cancer Research Center recommends that the placing on the market of smokeless tobacco products continue to be prohibited in the Member States in order to protect the health of the European population.

References

- Al-Wadei HA, Schuller HM (2009) beta-Carotene promotes the development of NNKinduced small airway-derived lung adenocarcinoma. Eur J Cancer, 45, 1257-1264
- (2) Alguacil J, Silverman DT (2004) Smokeless and other noncigarette tobacco use and pancreatic cancer: a case-control study based on direct interviews. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev, 13, 55-58
- (3) Alpert HR, Koh H, Connolly GN (2008) Free nicotine content and strategic marketing of moist snuff tobacco products in the United States: 2000-2006. Tob Control, 17, 332-338
- (4) Andersson G, AxellT (1989) Clinical appearance of lesions associated with the use of loose and portion-bag packed Swedish moist snuff: a comparative study. J Oral Pathol Med, 18, 2-7
- (5) Ashley DL, Burns D, Djordjevic M, Dybing E, Gray N, et al. (2008) The scientific basis of tobacco product regulation. World Health OrganTech Rep Ser, 1-277, 271
- (6) Baker RR (1999) Smoke chemistry. In: Davis DL, Nielsen MT: Tobacco. Production, chemistry and technology. Blackwell Publishing, Oxford, 398-439
- (7) Bates C, Jarvis M, Connolly G (1999)Tobacco additives. Cigarette engineering and nicotine addiction. Action on Smoking and Health, London
- (8) Belluzzi JD, Wang R, Leslie FM (2005) Acetaldehyde enhances acquisition of nicotine self-administration in adolescent rats. Neuropsychopharmacology, 30, 705-712
- (9) Benowitz NL (1988) Nicotine and smokeless tobacco. CA Cancer J Clin, 38, 244-247
- (10) Benowitz NL (1999) Snuff, nicotine and cardiovascular disease: implications for tobacco control. J Am Coll Cardiol, 34, 1791-1793
- (11) Benowitz NL (2010) Nicotine addiction. N Engl J Med, 362, 2295-2303
- (12) Boffetta P, Aagnes B, Weiderpass E, Andersen A (2005) Smokeless tobacco use and risk of cancer of the pancreas and other organs. Int J Cancer, 114, 992-995
- (13) Boffetta P, Hecht S, Gray N, Gupta P, Straif K (2008) Smokeless tobacco and cancer. Lancet Oncol, 9, 667-675
- (14) Boffetta P, Straif K (2009) Use of smokeless tobacco and risk of myocardial infarction and stroke: systematic review with meta-analysis. BMJ, 339, b3060
- (15) Brunnemann KD, Qi J, Hoffmann D (2002) Chemical profile of two types of oral snuff tobacco. Food ChemToxicol, 40, 1699-1703
- (16) Burgan SW (1997) The role of tobacco use in periodontal diseases: a literature review. Gen Dent, 45, 449-460; quiz 469-470

- (17) Canadian Cancer Society (2008) Cigarette Package Health Warnings: International Status Report.
- (18) Carpenter CM, Connolly GN, Ayo-Yusuf OA, Wayne GF (2009) Developing smokeless tobacco products for smokers: an examination of tobacco industry documents. Tob Control, 18, 54-59
- (19) Carpenter CM, Wayne GF, Pauly JL, Koh HK, Connolly GN (2005) New cigarette brands with flavors that appeal to youth: tobacco marketing strategies. Health Aff (Millwood), 24, 1601-1610
- (20) Commission of the European Communities (1994) Documents concerning the accession of the Republic of Austria, the Kingdom of Sweden, the Republic of Finland and the Kingdom of Norway to the European Union. Official Journal C 241.
- (21) Commission of the European Communities (2003) Commission Decision of 5 September 2003 on the use of colour photographs or other illustrations as health warnings on tobacco packages [notified under document number C(2003) 3184]. 2003/641/EC, Official Journal L226, 24-26.
- (22) Commission of the European Communities (2007) Report from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council and the European Economic and Social Committee. Second Report on the Application of the Tobacco Products Directive.
- (23) Commission of the European Communities (2010) Approved tobacco testing laboratories in European Union member states. http:// ec.europa.eu/health/tobacco/law/manufacturing/label_labo_en.htm (accessed on 29 September 2010)
- (24) Commission of the European Communities (2010) Roadmap. Title of the initiative: Revision of the Tobacco Products Directive.
- (25) Conference of the Parties (2010) Intergovernmental Negotiating Body on a Protocol on Illicit Trade in Tobacco Products, Fourth session Geneva, Switzerland, 14–21 March 2010, FCTC/COP/INB-IT/4/7 21.03.2010, agenda item 4, Draft protocol to eliminate illicit trade in tobacco products.
- (26) Conference of the Parties to the WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control (2010) Draft protocol to eliminate illicit trade in tobacco products. Fourth session, Punta del Este, Uruguay, 15–20 November 2010, Provisional agenda item 5.1.2, FCTC/COP/4/5, 14 May 2010.
- (27) Connolly GN (2004) Sweet and spicy flavours: new brands for minorities and youth. Tob Control, 13, 211-212

- (28) Connolly GN, Richter P, Aleguas A, Jr., Pechacek TF, Stanfill SB, et al. (2010) Unintentional child poisonings through ingestion of conventional and novel tobacco products. Pediatrics, 125, 896-899
- (29) Connolly GN, Wayne GD, Lymperis D, Doherty MC (2000) How cigarette additives are used to mask environmental tobacco smoke. Tob Control, 9, 283-291
- (30) Council of the European Communities (1992) Council Directive 92/41/EEC of 15 May 1992 amending Directive 89/622/EEC on the approximation of the laws, regulations and administrative provisions of the Member States concerning the labelling of tobacco products, Official Journal, L 158, 30-33
- (31) Council of the European Communities (1995) Decision of the Council of the European Union of 1 January 1995 adjusting the instruments concerning the accession of new member states to the European Union. Official Journal, L1
- (32) Council of the European Communities (2007) Addendum to draft minutes. Subject: 2773rd meeting of the Council of the European Union (Environment), held in Brussels on 18 December 2006
- (33) Difranza J, Clark D, Pollay R (2003) Cigarette package design: opportunities for disease prevention. Tob Induc Dis, 1, 97-109
- (34) Ebbert JO, Carr AB, Dale LC (2004) Smokeless tobacco: an emerging addiction. Med Clin North Am, 88, 1593-1605
- (35) Ekfeldt A, Hugoson A, Bergendal T, Helkimo M (1990) An individual tooth wear index and an analysis of factors correlated to incisal and occlusal wear in an adult Swedish population. Acta Odontol Scand, 48, 343-349
- (36) England LJ, Kim SY,Tomar SL, Ray CS, Gupta PC, et al. (2010) Non-cigarette tobacco use among women and adverse pregnancy outcomes. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand, 89, 454-464
- (37) England LJ, Levine RJ, Mills JL, Klebanoff MA, Yu KF, et al. (2003) Adverse pregnancy outcomes in snuff users. Am J Obstet Gynecol, 189, 939-943
- (38) EUbusiness (2009) Sweden wants EU ,snus' tobacco ban to go up in smoke. Richmond, UK, http://www.eubusiness.com/news-eu/swedentobacco.gx/ (accessed on 29 September 2010)
- (39) European Court of Justice (2004) Pressemitteilung Nr. 99/04 14. Dezember 2004. Urteile des Gerichtshofes in den Rechtssachen C-210/03 und C-434/02. The Queen, auf Antrag von Swedish Match u. a. / Secretary of State for Health Arnold André GmbH & Co. KG / Landrat des Kreises Herford.
- (40) European Court of Justice (2004) Urteil des Gerichtshofes (Große Kammer) 14. Dezember 2004 "Richtlinie 2001/37/EG – Herstellung, Aufmachung und Verkauf von Tabakerzeugnissen – Artikel 8 – Verbot des Inverkehrbringens von Tabakerzeugnissen zum oralen Gebrauch – Gültigkeit – Auslegung der Artikel 28 EG bis 30 EG – Vereinbarkeit der nationalen Regelung, die das gleiche Verbot enthält", Rechtssache C-210/03
- (41) European Court of Justice (2004) Urteil des Gerichtshofes (Große Kammer) 14. Dezember 2004 "Richtlinie 2001/37/EG – Herstellung, Aufmachung und Verkauf von Tabakerzeugnissen – Artikel 8 – Verbot des Inverkehrbringens von Tabakerzeugnissen zum oralen Gebrauch – Gültigkeit", Rechtssache C-434/02

- (42) European Network for Smoking and Tobacco prevention (ENSP) (2010) Plain tobacco product packaging as a means to protect young people and adult consumers.
- (43) European Parliament (2007) Report on the Green Paper ,Towards a Europe free from tobacco smoke: policy options at EU level' (2007/2105(INI)). Committee on the Environment, Public Health and Food Safety,
- (44) European Parliament and Council of the European Union (2001) Directive 2001/37/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 5 June 2001 on the approximation of the laws, regulations and administrative provisions of the Member States concerning the manufacture, presentation and sale of tobacco products. Official Journal of the European Communities, L 194/26 L 194/34
- (45) European Union (2006) Summaries of EU legislation: Manufacture, presentation and sale of tobacco products. http://europa. eu/legislation_summaries/public_health/ health_determinants_lifestyle/c11567_en.htm (accessed on 29 September 2010)
- (46) Fant RV, Henningfield JE, Nelson RA, Pickworth WB (1999) Pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of moist snuff in humans. Tob Control, 8, 387-392
- (47) Federal Centre for Health Education (BZgA) (2008) Die Droganaffinität Jugendlicher in der Bundesrepublik Deutschland. Alkohol-, Tabakund Cannabiskonsum. Köln
- (48) Federal Minister for Youth, Family and Health (1977) Verordnung über Tabakerzeugnisse (Tabakverordnung). BGBI I 2831, zuletzt geändert durch die Verordnung vom 6. Juli 2010, BGBI I 851
- (49) Federal Minister for Youth, Family and Health (1981) Aromenverordnung (Artikel 22 der Verordnung zur Neuordnung lebensmittelrechtlicher Kennzeichnungsvorschriften). Neugefasst durch Bek. v. 2.5.2006 I 1127, zuletzt geändert durch Art. 1 V vom 30.9.2008 I 1911
- (50) Federal Ministry for Consumer Protection, Food and Agriculture (2002) Tabakprodukt-Verordnung. BGBI I 4434, zuletzt geändert durch Art. 360 V vom 31.10.2006 BGBI I 2407, Umsetzung der Richtlinie 2001/37/EG des Europäischen Parlaments und des Rates vom 5. Juni 2001 zur Angleichung der Rechts- und Verwaltungsvorschriften der Mitgliedstaaten über die Herstellung, die Aufmachung und den Verkauf von Tabakerzeugnissen (ABI. EG Nr. L 194, 26)
- (51) Federal Ministry of Food, Agriculture and Consumer Protection (BMELV) (2010) Tabakzusatzstoff-Datenbank. http://service. ble.de/tabakerzeugnisse/index2.php?site_ key=153&site_key=153 (accessed on 29 September 2010)
- (52) Federal Statistical Office (Destatis) (2009) Absatz von Tabakwaren 2008. Fachserie 14: Finanzen und Steuern, Reihe 9.1.1, Wiesbaden
- (53) Ferrea S, Winterer G (2009) Neuroprotective and neurotoxic effects of nicotine. Pharmacopsychiatry, 42, 255-265
- (54) Freeman B, Chapman S, Rimmer M (2008) The case for the plain packaging of tobacco products. Addiction, 103, 580-590
- (55) Garten S, Falkner RV (2004) Role of mentholated cigarettes in increased nicotine dependence and greater risk of tobacco-attributable disease. Prev.Med., 38, 793-798

- (56) Germain D, Wakefield MA, Durkin SJ (2010) Adolescents' perceptions of cigarette brand image: does plain packaging make a difference? J Adolesc Health, 46, 385-392
- (57) German Cancer Research Center (DKFZ) (2005) Increased health hazards due to additives of tobacco products – consequences for product regulation. Heidelberg
- (58) German Cancer Research Center (DKFZ) (2009) Carcinogens in tobacco smoke. Heidelberg
- (59) German Cancer Research Center (DKFZ) (2009) Tabakatlas Deutschland 2009. Steinkopff Verlag, Heidelberg
- (60) German Cancer Research Center (DKFZ) (2010) Regulierungsbedarf zum Schutz der Gesundheit: Empfehlungen für eine Prüfstrategie für Zusatzstoffe. Heidelberg
- (61) Goldfrank LR NL, Howland MA, Lewin NA, Flomenbaum NE, Hoffman RS, eds. (2006) Nicotine and tobacco preparations. In: Goldfrank's Toxicologic Emergencies. McGraw-Hill, New York, 1221-1230
- (62) Hammond D (2009) Tobacco labelling and packaging toolkit. A guide to FCTC Article 11.
- (63) Hammond D, Fong GT, Borland R, Cummings KM, McNeill A, et al. (2007) Text and graphic warnings on cigarette packages: findings from the international tobacco control four country study. Am J Prev Med, 32, 202-209
- (64) Hammond D, Fong GT, McNeill A, Borland R, Cummings KM (2006) Effectiveness of cigarette warning labels in informing smokers about the risks of smoking: findings from the International Tobacco Control (ITC) Four Country Survey. Tob Control, 15 Suppl 3, iii19-25
- (65) Hammond D, Parkinson C (2009) The impact of cigarette package design on perceptions of risk. J Public Health (Oxf), 31, 345-353
- (66) Hatsukami DK, Ebbert JO, Feuer RM, Stepanov I, Hecht SS (2007) Changing smokeless tobacco products new tobacco-delivery systems. Am J Prev Med, 33, S368-378
- (67) Henningfield J, Pankow J, Garrett B (2004) Ammonia and other chemical base tobacco additives and cigarette nicotine delivery: issues and research needs. NicotineTob Res, 6, 199-205
- (68) Hirsch JM, Livian G, Edward S, Noren JG (1991) Tobacco habits among teenagers in the city of Goteborg, Sweden, and possible association with dental caries. Swed Dent J, 15, 117-123
- (69) Hoffmann D, Hoffmann I, El-Bayoumy K (2001) The less harmful cigarette: a controversial issue. a tribute to Ernst L. Wynder. Chem ResToxicol, 14, 767-790
- (70) Holm H, Jarvis MJ, Russell MA, Feyerabend C (1992) Nicotine intake and dependence in Swedish snuff takers. Psychopharmacology (Berl), 108, 507-511
- (71) House of Commons of Canada (2009) Act to amend the tobacco act. Bill C-32, Second Session, Fortieth Parliament, 57-58 Elizabeth II
- (72) International Agency for Research on Cancer (2007) Smokeless tobacco and some tobaccospecific nitrosamines. IARC Monographs on the evaluation of carcinogenic risks to humans, 89, IARC, Lyon
- (73) Isaacs J (1981) Philip Morris USA Marketing Research Department Report: Identified HTI test of Marlboro Ultra Lights in a blue pack versus Marlbro Ultra Lights in a red pack (project No 1256/1257) Bates No: 2040459038/9048

- (74) Johansson I, Tidehag P, Lundberg V, Hallmans G (1994) Dental status, diet and cardiovascular risk factors in middle-aged people in northern Sweden. Community Dent Oral Epidemiol, 22, 431-436
- (75) Junge Union Deutschland (2009) Entscheidung
 09. 57. Jahrgang, http://www.entscheidung. de/gfx/pdf_1255522320ENTSCHEIDUNG_ AusgabeSeptOkt2009.pdf (accessed on 29 September 2010)
- (76) Keithly L, Ferris Wayne G, Cullen DM, Connolly GN (2005) Industry research on the use and effects of levulinic acid: a case study in cigarette additives. Nicotine Tob Res, 7, 761-771
- (77) Klein SM, Giovino GA, Barker DC, Tworek C, Cummings KM, et al. (2008) Use of flavored cigarettes among older adolescent and adult smokers: United States, 2004–2005. Nicotine Tob Res, 10, 1209-1214
- (78) Koten J (1980) Tobacco marketers' success formula: make cigarets in smoker's own image. Wall Street Journal, 29 February 1980:22, http://legacy.library.ucsf.edu/tid/ uzs84f00/pdf (accessed on 29 September 2010)
- (79) Lewis MJ, Wackowski O (2006) Dealing with an innovative industry: a look at flavored cigarettes promoted by mainstream brands. Am J Public Health, 96, 244-251
- (80) Lundqvist G, Sandstrom H, Ohman A, Weinehall L (2009) Patterns of tobacco use: a 10-year follow-up study of smoking and snus habits in a middle-aged Swedish population. Scand J Public Health, 37, 161-167
- (81) Luo J,YeW, Zendehdel K, Adami J, Adami HO, et al. (2007) Oral use of Swedish moist snuff (snus) and risk for cancer of the mouth, lung, and pancreas in male construction workers: a retrospective cohort study. Lancet, 369, 2015-2020
- (82) Macpherson LJ, Hwang SW, Miyamoto T, Dubin AE, Patapoutian A, et al. (2006) More than cool: promiscuous relationships of menthol and other sensory compounds. Mol. Cell Neurosci., 32, 335-343
- (83) Manning KC, Kelly KJ, Comello ML (2009) Flavoured cigarettes, sensation seeking and adolescents' perceptions of cigarette brands. Tob Control, 18, 459-465
- (84) Mejia AB, Ling PM (2010) Tobacco industry consumer research on smokeless tobacco users and product development. Am J Public Health, 100, 78-87
- (85) Merckel C, Pragst F (2005) Abschlussbericht - Projekt Tabakzusatzstoffe. Charité – Universitätsmedizin Berlin, Campus Benjamin Franklin, Institut für Rechtsmedizin, im Auftrag des Bundesamtes für Gesundheit (BAG) der Schweiz
- (86) Norberg M, Stenlund H, Lindahl B, Boman K, Weinehall L (2006) Contribution of Swedish moist snuff to the metabolic syndrome: a wolf in sheep's clothing? Scand J Public Health, 34, 576-583
- (87) Patja K, Hakala SM, Bostrom G, Nordgren P, Haglund M (2009) Trends of tobacco use in Sweden and Finland: do differences in tobacco policy relate to tobacco use? Scand J Public Health, 37, 153-160
- (88) Phillip Morris (1990) Marketing new products in a restrictive environment. Bates No: 2044762173/2364, Philip Morris International Marketing Meeting, Naples, Florida

- (89) Pollay RW, Dewhirst T (2002) The dark side of marketing seemingly "Light" cigarettes: successful images and failed fact. Tob Control, 11 Suppl 1, I18-31
- (90) Post A, Gilljam H, Rosendahl I, Bremberg S, Galanti MR (2010) Symptoms of nicotine dependence in a cohort of Swedish youths: a comparison between smokers, smokeless tobacco users and dual tobacco users. Addiction, 105, 740-746
- (91) Pötschke-Langer M, Schulze A, Klein R (2005) Zusatzstoffe in Tabakprodukten - neue Erkenntnis oder altes Wissen? In: Batra A: Rauchen - eine Abhängigkeit wie jede andere? Kohlhammer, Stuttgart, 66-82
- (92) Rabinoff M, Caskey N, Rissling A, Park C (2007) Pharmacological and chemical effects of cigarette additives. Am J Public Health, 97, 1981-1991
- (93) Richter P, Hodge K, Stanfill S, Zhang L, Watson C (2008) Surveillance of moist snuff: total nicotine, moisture, pH, un-ionized nicotine, and tobacco-specific nitrosamines. Nicotine Tob Res, 10, 1645-1652
- (94) Römpp H, Falbe J, Regitz M (1998) Römpp Lexikon Chemie. GeorgThiemeVerlag, Stuttgart
- (95) Roosaar A, Johansson AL, Sandborgh-Englund G, Axell T, Nyren O (2008) Cancer and mortality among users and nonusers of snus. Int J Cancer, 123, 168-173
- (96) Sambrook Research International (2009) A review of the science base to support the development of health warnings for tobacco packages.
- (97) Scientific Advisory Committee on Tobacco Products Regulation (2010) Recommendation on smokeless tobacco products.
- (98) Scientific Committee on Emerging and Newly Identified Health Risks (SCENIHR) (2008) Health effects of smokeless tobacco products.
- (99) Shanahan P, Elliott D (2009) Evaluation of the effectiveness of the graphic health warnings on tobacco product packaging 2008. Canberra
- (100) Siegel M, Nelson DE, Peddicord JP, Merritt RK, Giovino GA, et al. (1996) The extent of cigarette brand and company switching: results from the Adult Use-of-Tobacco Survey. Am J Prev Med, 12, 14-16
- (101) Smokefree Partnership (2010) World No Tobacco Day 2010. Setting the EU tobacco control agenda and celebrating the 'Pledge' (Konferenz im Europäischen Parlament zum Weltnichtrauchertag 2010). http://www.smokefreepartnership.eu/World-No-Tobacco-Day-2010-Setting (accessed on 29 September 2010)
- (102) Stevenson T, Proctor RN (2008) The secret and soul of Marlboro: Phillip Morris and the origins, spread, and denial of nicotine freebasing. Am J Public Health, 98, 1184-1194

- (103) Swedish Match (2009) Swedish Match Image Bank. http://imagebank.swedishmatch.com (accessed on 29 September 2010)
- (104) Talhout R, Opperhuizen A, van Amsterdam JG (2006) Sugars as tobacco ingredient: Effects on mainstream smoke composition. Food ChemToxicol, 44, 1789-1798
- (105) Talhout R, Opperhuizen A, van Amsterdam JG (2007) Role of acetaldehyde in tobacco smoke addiction. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol, 17, 627-636
- (106) Tanvetyanon T, Bepler G (2008) Beta-carotene in multivitamins and the possible risk of lung cancer among smokers versus former smokers: a meta-analysis and evaluation of national brands. Cancer, 113, 150-157
- (107) TNS Opinion & Social (2010) Tobacco, Special Eurobarometer 332, Wave 72.3. im Auftrag des Directorate General Health and Consumers der Europäischen Kommission, Brüssel
- (108) Tomar SL, Alpert HR, Connolly GN (2010) Patterns of dual use of cigarettes and smokeless tobacco among US males: findings from national surveys. Tob Control, 19, 104-109
- (109) United States Department of Health and Human Services (1989) Reducing the consequences of smoking. 25 years of progress. A report of the Surgeon General. Atlanta, Georgia
- (110) United States Government (2009) Family smoking prevention and tobacco control act. 111th Congress of the United States of America, 1st session
- (111) Wakefield M, Morley C, Horan JK, Cummings KM (2002) The cigarette pack as image: new evidence from tobacco industry documents. Tob Control, 11 Suppl 1, I73-80
- (112) Wakefield MA, Germain D, Durkin SJ (2008) How does increasingly plainer cigarette packaging influence adult smokers' perceptions about brand image? An experimental study.Tob Control, 17, 416-421
- (113) Willems EW, Rambali B, Vleeming W, Opperhuizen A, van Amsterdam JG (2006) Significance of ammonium compounds on nicotine exposure to cigarette smokers. Food ChemToxicol, 44, 678-688
- (114) World Health Organization Framework Convention onTobacco Control (2008) Guidelines for implementation of Article 13 of the WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control (Tobacco advertising, promotion and sponsorship).
- (115) World Health Organization Framework Convention on Tobacco Control (2009) Guidelines for implementation of Article 11 of the WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control (Packaging and labelling of tobacco products).

List of authors

Authors (in alphabetical order)

Dipl. Biol. Sarah Kahnert Deutsches Krebsforschungszentrum Heidelberg E-Mail: s.kahnert@dkfz.de

Dr. Urmila Nair Deutsches Krebsforschungszentrum Heidelberg E-Mail: u.nair@dkfz.de

Dr. Martina Pötschke-Langer Deutsches Krebsforschungszentrum Heidelberg E-Mail: m.poetschke-langer@dkfz.de

Dr. Katrin Schaller Deutsches Krebsforschungszentrum Heidelberg E-Mail: k.schaller@dkfz.de

Nick K. Schneider Deutsches Krebsforschungszentrum Heidelberg E-Mail: nick.schneider@dkfz.de

In cooperation with

Prof. Dr. Dr. Heinz Walter Thielmann Member of the Senate Commission for the Investigation of Health Hazards of Chemical Compounds in the Work Area Previously published in the Red Series:

Volume 1:	Die Rauchersprechstunde – Beratungskonzepte für Gesundheitsberufe (2000)
Special volume:	Gesundheit fördern – Tabakkonsum verringern: Handlungsempfehlungen für eine wirksame Tabakkontrollpolitik in Deutschland (2002)
Volume 2:	Passivrauchende Kinder in Deutschland – Frühe Schädigungen für ein ganzes Leben (2003)
Volume 3:	Die Tabakindustriedokumente I: Chemische Veränderungen an Zigaretten und Tabakabhängigkeit (2005)
Volume 4:	Dem Tabakkonsum Einhalt gebieten – Ärzte in Prävention und Therapie der Tabakabhängigkeit (2005)
Volume 5:	Passivrauchen – ein unterschätztes Gesundheitsrisiko (2005)
Volume 6:	RauchloseTabakprodukte: Jede Form vonTabak ist gesundheitsschädlich (2006)
Special volume:	Rauchfrei 2006 (2006)
Special volume:	Smokefree 2006 – The Campaign at a Glance (2006)
Volume 7:	Erhöhtes Gesundheitsrisiko für Beschäftigte in der Gastronomie durch Passivrauchen am Arbeitsplatz (2007)
Volume 8:	Rauchende Kinder und Jugendliche in Deutschland – leichter Einstieg, schwerer Ausstieg (2008)
Volume 9:	Frauen und Rauchen in Deutschland (2008)
Volume 10:	Ein Bild sagt mehr als tausend Worte: Kombinierte Warnhinweise aus Bild und Text auf Tabakprodukten (2009)
Volume 11:	Umweltrisiko Tabak – von der Pflanze zur Kippe (2009)
Volume 12:	Illegaler Zigarettenhandel und seine wirksame Bekämpfung zum Gesundheitsschutz der Bevölkerung (2010)
Volume 13:	Rauchen und Mundgesundheit. Erkrankungen des Zahn-, Mund- und Kieferbereiches und Interventionsstrategien für Zahnärzte (2010)
Volume 14:	Schutz der Familie vor Tabakrauch (2010)
Volume 15:	Nichtraucherschutz wirkt – eine Bestandsaufnahme der internationalen und der deutschen Erfahrungen (2010)

All publications are available online at: www.tabakkontrolle.de.